PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief the parties will be referred to by their names and by the position they occupy before this Court. The following symbols will be used for references:

"R" for "Report of Referee"

"T" for "Transcript"

"E" for "Exhibit"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Peter C. Clement, the original respondent below, perfected this appeal in due course from a final report of the referee of the disciplinary hearing held at the Hillsborough County Courthouse in Tampa, Florida.

The Appellant has been a member in good standing of the Florida Bar since 1978. Appellant has never had another bar grievance filed against him since he became a Florida Bar member.

After a finding of probable cause the Florida Bar filed a complaint against Appellant. A hearing on this matter was held on December 13, 14, and 20, 1993. On January 11, 1994, the Appellant presented numerous lay and professional character witnesses on his behalf.

This appeal arises from a Final Report filed on January 19, 1994 by the referee, which found Appellant guilty of Count I and guilty of Count II and recommended Appellant's suspension from the Florida Bar for thirty-six (36) months, among other unreasonable penalties.

QUESTION PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHEN IT RULED THAT THE UNREBUTTED EXPERT TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S TREATING PSYCHIATRIST WAS UNWORTHY OF BELIEF WHERE IT LATER RELIED UPON THE TREATING PSYCHIATRIST'S DIAGNOSIS THAT APPELLANT SUFFERED WITH A MENTAL DISORDER IN ITS MITIGATION AND RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE.
- II. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED IN THE EXCLUSION OF THE TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S WIFE REGARDING HER OPINION OF APPELLANT'S SANITY AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSES WHERE SHE HAD ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO OBSERVE THE CONDUCT OF APPELLANT.
- III. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHEN COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL PRECLUDED APPELLEE FROM PRESENTING FACTS INTO EVIDENCE WHICH ARE CONTRARY TO FACTS PREVIOUSLY PRESENTED IN PRIOR LITIGATION WHERE APPELLEE'S WITNESS TESTIFIED HERE THAT HE HAD NOT AUTHORIZED THE APPELLANT TO USE DESIGNATED FUNDS FOR HIS PERSONAL USE BUT WHO HAD PREVIOUSLY PLEAD AND/OR TESTIFIED UNDER OATH IN A PREVIOUS TRIAL THAT HE HAD IN FACT AUTHORIZED APPELLANT TO UTILIZE SAID FUNDS FOR APPELLANT'S PERSONAL USE.
- IV. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHERE TELEPHONIC TESTIMONY OF A FOREIGN WITNESS TESTIFYING FROM A FOREIGN COUNTRY WAS ADMITTED WHERE THE OATH ADMINISTERED WAS NOT EXECUTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES AND SAID TESTIMONY WAS NOT COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLEE'S CONTENTIONS.
- V. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHERE APPELLANT PRESENTED DETAILED EVIDENCE OF HIS DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF HIS MENTAL CONDITION, HIS EARLIER COMPETENCY IN THE PRACTICE OF LAW, HIS SUDDEN, MARKED DETERIORATION IN PERSONAL AND PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR AROUND THE OCCURRENCE OF EVENTS UNDERLYING THE BAR COMPLAINT, AND HIS SUBSEQUENT RETURN TO HIS NORMAL HIGH STANDARD OF CONDUCT AND THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW FOR THIRTY-SIX (36) MONTHS PUNISHMENT WAS NOT WARRANTED IN LIGHT OF APPELLANT'S UNBLEMISHED RECORD.
- VI. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHERE THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW FOR THIRTY-SIX (36) MONTHS PUNISHMENT IS UNREASONABLE AND IN VIOLATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT WHEN REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES EXIST WHICH COULD BE UTILIZED.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision as filed in the referee's report is clearly erroneous where the bar failed to present clear and convincing evidence that Appellant was sane at the time he committed the More specifically, the referee committed alleged offenses. reversible error where it improperly discredited the unrebutted medical testimony of Dr. Butler, who was Appellant's treating psychiatrist during the time of the alleged offenses and who met with and treated Appellant over forty times during the time the alleged offenses were committed. Moreover, the referee committed reversible error when it excluded the opinion testimony of Appellant's wife as to her opinion of Appellant's sanity at the time of the alleged incidents where she had testified as to his irrational behavior in his personal and professional life and she had adequate opportunity to observe his conduct during this time. Further, the referee committed reversible error where it admitted testimony from a witness which was contrary to sworn pleadings filed in a prior suit which was adjudicated against the witnesses' interest. Furthermore, the referee committed reversible error where it solicited and admitted telephonic testimony from a witness in a foreign country whose oath was not executed in accordance with the statutory requirements for taking oaths in foreign countries thereby making said testimony not competent evidence to support the Appellee's contentions. Finally, the referee committed reversible error where the recommended discipline is unreasonable and unduly

harsh pursuant to Florida case law and the Federal laws, in particular the Americans with Disability Act.

•

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED WHEN IT RULED THAT THE UNREBUTTED EXPERT TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S TREATING PSYCHIATRIST WAS UNWORTHY OF BELIEF WHERE IT LATER RELIED UPON THE TREATING PSYCHIATRIST'S DIAGNOSIS THAT APPELLANT SUFFERED WITH A MENTAL DISORDER IN ITS MITIGATION AND RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE.

The established rule in Florida is that the trial court cannot arbitrarily ignore unrebutted expert testimony. <u>In re Estate of</u> <u>Hannon</u>, 447 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In <u>Hannon</u>, the personal representative of testator's estate filed a petition for construction of an article of the testator's will. The Circuit Court found that the testator intended the hospital and church to be beneficiaries of 1,000 shares of stock each, plus all stock splits and dividends, and the residual beneficiaries appealed. <u>Hannon</u> at 1028.

The appellate court found that at the hearing the only witness was Leo Fox, the attorney who prepared the will. Fox testified that the language "1,000 shares computed on the basis of present value" was placed in the will in order to clearly indicate that the testator wished to bequeath 1,000 shares of stock to each beneficiary at the stock's value (\$35.00 per share) on the date the will was executed, thus giving each charity \$35,000. The trial court totally ignored this testimony although it was uncontradicted and the only testimony heard. The trial court cannot arbitrarily ignore unrebutted testimony. Based upon the trial court's arbitrarily ignoring the unrebutted testimony of the attorney, the appellate court reversed and remanded the case. <u>Hannon</u> at 1028.

In Ackerly Communications, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach,

427 So. 2d 245 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), the appellate court found that the trial court had erred utilizing the depreciation figure of the city's expert after striking his testimony. The <u>Ackerly</u> <u>Communications</u> case was an eminent domain proceeding involving the city's taking of an owner's outside advertising signs where the sign owner appealed from the judgment awarding him \$1,500 as total compensation. <u>Ackerly</u> at 246.

The appellant argued that the trial court erred by using a 50% depreciation figure. The evidence as to the depreciation came from two witnesses. The sign owner's expert testified as to a 5% depreciation figure, and the City's expert testified to a 50% depreciation figure. On the sign owner's motion, the court struck the testimony of the City's expert on depreciation as the expert was shown to be unqualified to render an opinion. Upon striking the 50% depreciation figure, the court was left with only the unrebutted testimony of the sign owner's expert which was 5%. The trial court thus erred in employing the 50% depreciation figure to determine compensation and was reversed and remanded for further proceedings with instructions to recompute the just compensation by the use of a 5% depreciation amount. Id.

In the instant case, while the referee may not haven stricken the testimony Appellant's treating physician before erroneously relying upon it in its findings, however, he did state that the physicians testimony was "unworthy of belief" (R.6), and then later relied upon his diagnosis of Appellants "bi-polar, manic-depressive disorder" (R.23) in mitigation. Dr. Butler provided a very

reasonable and convincing explanation as to any possible discrepancies in his medical reports. (T.271). At the hearing, Dr. Butler stated, "I believe in my opinion that [the two letters with different dates] reflect, if we look at one [date] as making a statement about [Appellant's] mania and one making a statement about his mania and depression, THEY ARE BOTH LEGITIMATE LETTERS. (Emphasis added) (T.271). Clearly in light of the extensive expert testimony presented at the hearing on Appellant's mental disorder as well as Dr. Butler's reasonable explanation of discrepancies in dates of medical records, following the rationale as set forth in Ackerly, this Court should reverse the opinion which rejected the unrebutted expert testimony of Dr. Butler that Appellant did not know right from wrong at the time of the alleged offenses and that Butler's testimony in its entirety should be given full Dr. consideration.

In <u>Republic National Bank of Miami v. Roco</u>, 534 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988), the appellate court held that a bank's unrebutted expert testimony should not have been arbitrarily rejected. The <u>Roco</u> case involved a director/trustee of a dissolved corporation which entered into a contract to purchase jewelry from a merchandiser in Spain brought an action against the bank for breach of deposit agreement. In reversing, the appellate court held that the bank's unrebutted expert testimony that letters of guaranty are customarily substituted for drafts and shipping documents in international sales transactions and served to protect the bank against claims that might arise from its authorizing goods

to be released prior to obtaining acceptance of accompanying draft should not have been arbitrarily rejected. Therefore, it held that judgment should have been entered in favor of the bank and reversed. <u>Id</u>. at 738.

In <u>Roco</u>, the trial court's order was reversed and remanded with directions for the trial court to receive the expert testimony which was intended to explain the meaning of the ambiguous phrase concerning responsibility. Upon the first remand, the trial court heard unrebutted expert testimony establishing that such guaranties customarily substituted for drafts and shipping documents and serve to protect the bank against potential claims which could arise from its authorizing goods to be released prior to obtaining acceptance of the accompanying draft. The appellate court stated that "for reasons not apparent to this court, the trial court rejected the uncontroverted evidence and again entered judgment for Roco." <u>Id</u>.

In the courts discussion, it acknowledged the general rule in Florida that a trial court cannot arbitrarily reject unrebutted testimony. <u>Citing In re Estate of Hannon supra</u>; and <u>Ackerly Comm.</u>, <u>Inc. supra</u>. Also, where the testimony adduced in not "essentially illegal, contrary to natural laws, inherently improbable or unreasonable, opposed to common knowledge, or inconsistent with other circumstances in evidence, it should not be disregarded but accepted as proof of the issue. <u>Citing Laragione</u> 195 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967); and <u>Florida East Coast Ry. v. Michini</u>, 139 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962), <u>cert</u>. <u>discharged</u>, 152 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1963).

At the instant hearing, the referee heard testimony from Appellant's treating physician, Dr. Butler, that Appellant did not know right from wrong at the time of the alleged offenses. (T.295). Dr. Butler's testimony was unrebutted. Dr. Butler was and is a qualified expert in psychiatric medicine. (T.277). Appellee apparently did not think that it was prudent or necessary to order a second medical evaluation be performed; from the costs of this hearing, money was not a consideration to the Florida Bar. Pursuant to the above case law, the referee cannot arbitrarily reject unrebutted expert testimony and his decision that Dr. Butler's testimony was not worthy of belief must be reversed.

Likewise, our own Second District Court of Appeal has held that a witness' friendship for a party should not constitute an impeachment of his veracity and his uncontradicted factual testimony should not be arbitrarily disregarded. Laragione v. Hagan, 195 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967). In Laragione, the plaintiffs brought suit against a wife's estate and her second husband to enforce rights under an alleged oral contract between the wife and her first husband to execute mutual wills in favor of plaintiffs. Laragione at 247.

The trial court entered judgment against plaintiffs. In reversing and remanding, the appellate court stated that the appellee unsuccessfully challenged the competency of appellants' witness, Frank Rinaldi, however, the chancellor did remark in his decree that Rinaldi "frankly admitted on the witness stand that he would like to help the plaintiffs." Rinaldi's testimony was not

contradicted by any other witness, and it was not contradictory within itself. Id. at 249. Neither was it essentially illegal, contrary to natural laws, inherently improbable or unreasonable, common knowledge or inconsistent opposed to with other circumstances in evidence. It was material, properly admitted, and consisted of facts not opinions. The court stated that it would be error to wholly disregard or reject it even though he had been an interested party. Id. citing Brannen v. State, 94 Fla. 656, 114 Kinney v. Mosher, 100 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958). So. 429; Rinaldi's friendship for the appellants, unaccompanied by facts from which adverse conclusion could be drawn, and none appear in the record, does not constitute an impeachment of his veracity. Id. citing In re Estate of Krugle, 134 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). The appellate court found that the chancellor patently misconceived the legal effect of Rinaldi's testimony. Id. at 249.

In the instant case, the referee blatantly stated that "Dr. Butler was willing to testify to that which would assist his patient in the Bar proceeding." (R.6). Notwithstanding the fact that Dr. Butler may have been interested in his patient's well being and outcome of this hearing, his interest in his patient does not constitute an impeachment of his veracity, pursuant to <u>Krugle</u> and <u>Laragione</u> above.

II. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT WAS ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED IN THE EXCLUSION OF THE TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S WIFE REGARDING HER OPINION OF APPELLANT'S SANITY AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSES WHERE SHE HAD ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO OBSERVE THE CONDUCT OF APPELLANT.

In Florida, the general rule is that the mental condition or appearance of a person, or his manner, habit, or conduct in that regard, may be proved by the opinion of an ordinary witness, where the witness is shown to have had adequate opportunity to observe the manner or conduct of such person. Sealey v. State, 89 Fla. 439, 105 So. 137 (Fla. 1925) (holding that it was permissible to ask nonexpert witness whether the condition of person's mind was rational and normal); See also, Rivers v. State, 458 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1984) (it is a well established principle of law in this state that an otherwise qualified witness who is not a medical expert can testify about a person's mental condition, provided the testimony is based on personal knowledge and observation); Garron v. State, 528 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1988) (witnesses who have known and observed a defendant over an extended period of time may also be competent to testify as to their nonexpert opinion on the defendant's sanity); Hall v. State, 78 Fla. 420, 83 So. 513, 8 ALR 1034 (Fla. 1919) (where witnesses testified that in their opinion defendant was of "unsound mind," or "not in his right head"); and Hixon v. State, 165 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964).

In other words, the opinions of nonexpert witnesses based on facts known to them and testified to by them are evidence which the jury may and should consider. 24 Fla. Jur. 2d <u>Evidence and</u> <u>Witnesses</u> Section 656 (1993). A nonexpert witness can detail the

facts know to him which show insanity, and thereupon express an opinion as to the sanity of the person whose mental condition is being investigated. <u>Hixon v. State supra</u>.

In the instant case, Appellant's wife testified and as the person who had observed Appellant's behavior on a regular basis throughout his forty some visits to his psychiatrist was competent to voice her lay opinion at to his sanity at the time of the At the instant hearing, Appellant's wife alleged offenses. testified that she had observed him over a long period of time during which Appellant suffered with his mental disorder and prior to the alleged offenses. Appellant's wife testified as to his impaired judgment and the erratic behavior patterns which she had personally observed: (1) in preparing certain legal documents one day, (T.341), and revoking everything soon thereafter (T.343); (2) in telling the wife to go see a lawyer one minute (T.343), and then becoming hysterical and wanting to know why she had gone to see a lawyer the next (T.348); in working around the clock and not sleeping (T.351,353,369-70); in becoming restless, argumentative and agitated (T.351); in considering buying property priced beyond his means (T.352); in becoming a concert promoter (T.353); in solving world problems in the Middle East (T.355); in representing the public as a lawyer (T.361,363), in attempting to sell the marital home without the wife's knowledge (T.365); in taking and arranging trips for his family in limousines (T.365,366); in paying entrance fees to one Disney park and forty-five minutes later becoming upset and wanting to go to another Disney park (T.367); in

directing traffic during a parade in Orlando (T.367); in falling asleep while cooking causing fire damage to the house (T.379); in driving his car backwards into the garage door without opening the garage door first (T.379); in planning a meeting with the Governor of Florida (T.370); and in appearing to demonstrate erratic peaks and valleys in his behavior (T.374-74).

Based on Appellant's wife's extensive observations of Appellant, his attorney asked her opinion as to Peter's competence during the period of July 1990 to January 1992. (T.382). The referee erroneously sustained the Appellee's objection but allowed counsel to proffer that Appellant's wife opinion that Peter was incompetent during this time period. (T.382).

In spite of the referee's decision to exclude the Appellant's wife from testifying as to her opinion as to Appellant's sanity at the time of the alleged offenses, in his report the referee states that "Respondent's wife's testimony did not indicate that from December 1990 to December 1991 Respondent did not know right from wrong." (R.6). Plainly, the referee cannot have it both ways!

In <u>Hixon</u>, 165 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964), the defendant was convicted of first degree murder and he appealed. The appellate court stated that the lay witnesses' testimony presented a meager evidentiary matter as against the total evidence of the defense that defendant was insane at time he killed his former wife where the testimony was based on brief opportunities for observation of defendant. The appellate court found that the prosecution had failed to overcome the presumption that defendant was insane when

he killed. The <u>Hixon</u> court in reaching its decision stated:

In a criminal prosecution, a lay or nonexpert witness may be permitted to give an opinion regarding the sanity or insanity of the person whose mental condition is in issue, but he cannot express a general opinion as to sanity nor give opinions independent of facts and circumstances within his own knowledge. The opinion, rather, is to be given after the witness has testified with regard to appearances, actions, and conduct of the person whose sanity is being investigated; and such a testify from personal knowledge and witness must Thus, a nonexpert witness who bases his observation. testimony upon relevant facts and circumstances known to and detailed by him may give an opinion as to sanity. Citing 20 Am. Jur. Evidence Sections 852, 853, 854, pages 2 Underhill's Criminal Evidence, pages 1157, 713-716; 1151; 2 Warton's Criminal Evidence, Section 532, pages 371-372; Armstrong v. State, 30 Fla. 170, 11 So. 618 (Fla. 1892); Hall v. State, 78 Fla. 420, 83 So. 513 (Fla. 1919).

Hixon at 441.

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