F	ILED
	SID I WHITE 6/2/
	MAY 31 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Appellee/Cross-Appellant, v. PETER CHARLES CLEMENT, By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Cierk Case No. 82,097 TFB No. 92-10,252(6A) 93-10,633(6A)

Appellant/Cross-Appellee.

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF IN

#### SUPPORT OF CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 376183

##

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

Respondent cites The Florida Bar v. Parsons, 238 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 1970), another case involving facts similar to the instant case. Parsons' misconduct is not even remotely similar to Respondent's misconduct. The Bar, in its Complaint against Parsons, alleged that Parsons issued 19 worthless checks which led to criminal charges and that he neglected a client's case which resulted in an adverse judgment against the client. The Referee found Parsons quilty of the charges filed by the Bar, notwithstanding the fact that he was found not guilty by reason of insanity on the criminal charges of uttering worthless checks. This Court found that the appropriate discipline for Parsons' misconduct was a one-year suspension from the practice of law and thereafter, pending proof of professional and psychological rehabilitation, restitution to those injured, and payment of the Bar's costs.

The Respondent did not simply neglect a client's case, nor did

he issue worthless checks. In addition, the Respondent was not insane at the time of his misconduct. The Respondent knowingly and intentionally misappropriated the funds of at least two clients; he had shortages in his trust account for almost three years; he knowingly and intentionally made misrepresentations to his client, Tisseaux, and to the Florida Bar in an effort to conceal his defalcations; he knowingly and intentionally misrepresented to his client, Koren, that the Montello note and mortgage had been recorded in an effort to conceal the fact that the documents had been either returned to Montello or stolen; he had a conflict of interest and failed to competently represent Koren; and he caused injury to his clients, Koren and Tisseaux.

Respondent did suffer from a bi-polar, manic-depressive disorder at the time of his misconduct; however, said disorder did not diminish his capacity to understand the unethical nature of his acts. Respondent had suffered from the manic-depressive disorder for ten to twenty years in duration. Further, Respondent practiced law continuously and attended hearings during the time frame involved in the instant case (TRIII, pp. 88-89). The only client that complained about Respondent's representation during said time frame was Murray Koren. A one-year suspension as that imposed against Parsons is insufficient for Respondent's misconduct. The Respondent should be disbarred.

The last case cited by Respondent as similar to the instant case is <u>The Florida Bar v. Musleh</u>, 453 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 1984). Musleh was indicted by a federal grand jury for conspiring to receive, to transport in interstate commerce, and to sell stolen securities. In February 1982, Musleh went to trail in the criminal

case and was found not guilty by reason of insanity.

In April 1982, the Bar filed a Complaint against Musleh for the same conduct he was indicted and tried for in February 1982. Musleh did not deny the nature or occurrence of the events underlying the criminal charges and the Bar Complaint. He did, however, claim that his acts were not intentional or willful, but occurred when he was mentally incompetent (bi-polar affective disorder). The Referee found Musleh could appreciate the nature of his acts at the time of the misconduct and found him guilty on all counts. This Court found a 90-day suspension to be appropriate for Musleh's misconduct based on its consideration, in mitigation, of his severely limited ability to control his activity, his lack of a prior disciplinary record, and the testimony of character witnesses who testified to Musleh's earlier competency in the practice of law, his sudden, marked deterioration in personal and professional behavior around the time of the criminal conspiracy and his subsequent return to his normal high standard of conduct.

Like Musleh, Respondent committed a crime. However, unlike Musleh, Respondent's criminal misconduct involved clients. Respondent knowingly and intentionally misappropriated clients' funds. In addition, Respondent, unlike Musleh, engaged in numerous other unethical acts as previously outlined, including lying under oath either during a deposition or during a grievance committee hearing, and lying to the Florida Bar.

Unlike Musleh, Respondent was not ever found to be legally incompetent. However, like Musleh, Respondent claims he did not knowingly or intentionally engage in unethical conduct due to his mental state.

Respondent has been diagnosed as suffering from bi-polar affective disorder. Respondent did not experience a sudden, marked deterioration in personal and professional behavior at the time of his misconduct as did Musleh. Respondent had a prior history of ten to twenty years in duration of erratic manic behavior. In a testimonial letter to Dr. Butler, Respondent's wife outlined numerous spending sprees and grandiose ideas and acts of Respondent over a ten-to-twenty year period (TRII, pp. 256-257).

Unlike Musleh, the Respondent did not return to a high standard of conduct subsequent to the times he engaged in misconduct, or even the times that Dr. Butler testified he was unable to distinguish between right and wrong. On August 30, 1991, when Respondent was not seeing Dr. Butler due to his mood stability, or on November 19, 1992, Respondent lied under oath as to how the Montello note and mortgage became missing. In addition, on March 24, 1993, the Respondent lied to The Florida Bar auditor as previously described. Further, Respondent, on his 1990-1993 Florida Bar dues statements, knowingly and intentionally falsely certified that his trust account records and procedures for each year were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and the Rules Regulating Trust Accounting, and that there were no shortages (TRIII, p. 93).

Respondent's misconduct is clearly more serious than Musleh's misconduct. Respondent is dishonest and he should be disbarred.

It is The Florida Bar's position that disbarment, rather than a three-year suspension, is the appropriate discipline for the Respondent's misconduct in this case. The Bar's position is supported by recent case law and by the Florida Standards for

Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The facts of the instant case are similar to the facts in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Shanzer</u>, 572 So. 2d 1382 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Shanzer</u>, The Florida Bar filed a seven-count complaint. Count I alleged violations of the trust accounting record keeping requirements. Count II alleged that Shanzer retained the interest in his trust accounts for his personal use. Count III, IV, V, VI, and VII alleged misappropriation of funds and shortages in Shanzer's trust account. Shanzer admitted the allegations in the Bar's complaint in an unconditional guilty plea, reserving only as to the question of discipline before the Referee. The Referee recommended disbarment after finding three aggravating circumstances: (1) dishonest or selfish motive; (2) a pattern of misconduct; and (3) multiple offenses.

Shanzer filed a Petition for Review with The Supreme Court of Florida wherein he argued that his emotional problems during the nine months which spanned his defalcations, as well as his full cooperation with the Bar, his remorse, rehabilitation, and the payment of restitution, mitigated his conduct and called for discipline less than disbarment.

Upon review, this Court noted that "misuse of client funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit and that disbarment is presumed to be the appropriate punishment". <u>Shanzer</u>, at page 1383. The Court also noted that in some cases they have found the presumption of disbarment rebutted by mitigating evidence and imposed a slightly lesser discipline of suspension. The Supreme Court held that the mitigating factors in <u>Shanzer</u> did not warrant a discipline less than disbarment. In holding as such, the

Court noted that depression, primarily over marital and economic problems, are visited upon a great number of lawyers. The Court further stated as follows:

"clearly, we cannot excuse an attorney for dipping into his trust funds as a means of solving personal problems. We recognize that mental problems as well as alcohol and drug problems may impair judgment so as to diminish culpability. However, we do not find that the Referee abused his discretion in not finding this to be one of those cases." Shanzer at 1384.

Shanzer was disbarred.

The facts of the instant case are also similar to the facts in The Florida Bar v. Knowles, 500 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 1986). In Knowles, the Referee found that between August 1979 and May 1983, Knowles converted to his own personal use a total of \$197,900.00 from the trust fund accounts of several of his clients. During the disciplinary proceedings, Knowles admitted that he was an alcoholic and advised that he went into an alcohol rehabilitation center where he resided until treatment was terminated. Knowles also advised that he continued his rehabilitation through Alcoholics Anonymous and private therapy. Further, Knowles was found to have refrained from consuming alcoholic beverages since August 1983. The Referee recommended that Knowles be disbarred. Knowles filed a Petition for Review, arguing that disbarment was unduly harsh in light of the role that alcoholism played in causing his misconduct and his subsequent successful efforts towards rehabilitation.

The Supreme Court held in <u>Knowles</u> that the seriousness of Knowles offense warranted disbarment. In upholding the Referee's recommendation of disbarment, the Court stated as follows:



"although we recognize that alcoholism was the underlying cause of Respondent's misconduct, it cannot constitute a mitigating factor sufficient to reverse the

Referee's recommendation to disbar under the facts in this case. The misappropriations occurred continuously over a period of approximately four years. During this time, Respondent continued to work regularly. His income did not diminish discernably as a result of his alcoholism. We note further that the clients from whom he stole were elderly individuals who trusted him and for whom he had powers of attorney. Under these circumstances, we believe Respondent should be disbarred regardless of his defense of alcoholism." Knowles at 142.

Another case similar to the case on review is The Florida Bar v. Shuminer, 567 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 1990). In Shuminer, the Referee found that Shuminer misappropriated trust funds from several clients; that he settled a client's case without the prior knowledge and consent of the client; and that he made misrepresentations to a client in order to conceal his defalcations. The Referee, in his report, noted that Shuminer called several witnesses in mitigation:

1. Dr. John Eustace, M.D., the Director of the Mount Siani Medical Center's Chemical Dependency Treatment Unit, and a Board Certified Addictionologist who diagnosed Shuminer to be chemically dependent on alcohol and cocaine at the time of his misconduct. The doctor testified that Shuminer had been a drug abuser since he was ten years old. The doctor further testified that he had been supervising Shuminer's medical care, which consisted of detoxification, voluntary long-term treatment including in-hospital extended treatment. The doctor also testified that the addiction was the cause of Shuminer's disciplinary violations and that Shuminer's prognosis for recovery was excellent.

2. William Kilby, Esq., the Staff Attorney for Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc., testified that Shuminer was under contract with FLA, Inc. and that he had been in full compliance with the program

requirements.

3. The Honorable Catherine Pooler, Dade County Court Judge and The Honorable Roy T. Gelber, Circuit Judge of the Eleventh Circuit both testified that Shuminer was an excellent and competent attorney and of good moral character.

The Referee in Shuminer found the following factors in mitigation: absence of a prior disciplinary offense; 1. 2. great personal and emotional problems, including his disease of addiction, his impairment, and his family and marital problems; 3. a timely and good faith effort at restitution made to all clients; 4. cooperation with the Bar in that a probable cause hearing was waived and an unconditional guilty plea was entered in the proceedings; 5. his inexperience in the practice of law, that being a total of one year; 6. his character and reputation were good as testified to by two judges; 7. he was clearly mentally impaired due to his addiction; 8. he had been seriously, productively and successfully involved in rehabilitation for over one year; 9. he had expressed and shown remorse which the Referee felt was genuine.

Based on the mitigating factors, the Referee recommended that Shuminer be suspended from the practice of law for eighteen months; that thereafter he be placed on probation for thirty months and that a condition of the same be that he not have use of any trust accounts and that he be under the supervision of FLA, Inc.; that he perform 100 hours of community service; and that he pay the cost of the Bar's proceedings. The Bar filed a Petition for Review with The Supreme Court of Florida seeking disbarment rather than an eighteen-month suspension. On review, The Supreme Court held that

disbarment was the appropriate discipline for the Respondent's misconduct. In holding as such, the Court stated as follows:

"Shuminer has failed to establish that his addiction rose to a sufficient level of impairment to outweigh the seriousness of his offenses. He continued to work effectively during the period in issue, and he used a significant portion of the stolen funds not to support or conceal his addictions but rather to purchase a luxury automobile. In the hierarchy of offenses for which lawyers may be disciplined, stealing from a client must be among those at the very top of the list." <u>Shuminer</u> at 432 and 433.

The Respondent's misconduct in the instant case is strikingly similar to all three of the above-referenced cases. Like Shanzer, Knowles, and Shuminer, the Respondent misappropriated client trust funds and he had trust account record keeping violations. Like Shuminer, the Respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation to clients, in an effort to conceal his theft of client funds and his incompetent representation of a client. Unlike Shanzer, Knowles, and Shuminer, the Respondent failed to competently represent a client; he engaged in a conflict of interest with a client; he lied under oath either during a deposition in the case of Koren v. Montello or during the grievance committee hearing held in the instant case; he lied to the Florida Bar auditor during the audit of his trust account records and procedures.

Like <u>Shanzer</u>, <u>Knowles</u>, and <u>Shuminer</u>, there are mitigating factors in the instant case, which include the following: 1. absence of a prior disciplinary record; 2. Respondent was diagnosed as having bi-polar, manic-depressive disorder, for which he has been undergoing treatment since the summer of 1990; 3. Respondent tried to rectify the consequences of his misconduct, but

not until after the disciplinary process commended; 4. dood character and reputation; and 5. interim rehabilitation in that Respondent made forty-two or more visits to a psychiatrist or psychologist since the summer of 1990. Further, there are aggravating factors in the instant case which include the following: 1. dishonest or selfish motive; 2. a pattern of misconduct; 3. multiple offenses; 4. bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding by making false statements or not being candid, especially about his trust accounts, or by engaging in other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process; and 5. substantial experience in the practice of law.

As in <u>Shanzer</u>, <u>Knowles</u>, and <u>Shuminer</u>, Respondent in the instant case failed to establish that his mental state or disability rose to a sufficient level of impairment to outweigh the seriousness of his offenses. The Respondent continued to work during the period in issue and he used the stolen funds to finance his investment in a concert promotion he was involved in and to pay his personal bills.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions also support the Bar's position that disbarment is appropriate for the Respondent's misconduct. The following sections of the Standards apply in the instant case:

Standard 4.1 (failure to preserve the client's property)

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

Standard 4.3 (failure to avoid conflicts of interest) Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, disbarment is

appropriate when a lawyer, without the informed consent of the client, engages in representation of a client knowing that the lawyer's interests are adverse to the client's with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to the client.

STANDARD 4.6: Lack of Candor

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